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ALASKA WORKERS' COMPENSATION BOARD

P.O. Box 115512
Juneau, Alaska 99811-5512

	MARTHA S. MEDINA, 

Employee,

Claimant,
v. 

SEARS ROEBUCK & CO.,
Employer,

and 

LIBERTY MUTUAL INS CO,
Insurer,
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No(s).  199905590
AWCB Decision No. 12-0194 

Filed with AWCB Fairbanks, Alaska 

on November 6, 2012


The hearing on Martha Medina’s (Employee) September 8, 2008 workers’ compensation claim seeking temporary total disability (TTD) from 1999 to present, and medical and transportation costs, was scheduled on March 16, 2012, and heard in Fairbanks, Alaska on September 13, 2012.  Employee appeared, represented herself and testified in her own behalf.  Attorney Nora Barlow appeared and represented Sear Roebuck & Company (Employer).  The record closed at the hearing’s conclusion on September 13, 2012.  

ISSUES

Employer contends Employee’s claim is statutorily barred by AS 23.30.100(a) because Employee had neck pain in 2005 but only gave Employer notice of a possible cervical injury in 2008 when she filed her petition to set aside a Compromise and Release agreement to pursue benefits for the cervical spine.  

Employee contends she has long attempted to pursue benefits for her “upper back,” but was poorly represented at the time and her previous representative refused to pursue these benefits.   She contends her former legal representative’s refusal to pursue benefits should not be attributed to her.

1) Is Employee’s claim barred by AS 23.30.100(a)?

Employer contends Employee’s claim is barred by AS 23.30.110(c) because Employee failed to request a hearing on her claim for over three years.  

Employee contends she did file an affidavit of readiness for hearing but mistakenly filed it in the Governor’s Fairbanks office.

2) Is Employee’s claim barred by AS 23.30.110(c)?

Employee contends she was stocking Carhart clothing for Employer in January 1999 when she felt a “twinge” in the center of her back.  She contends the pain later traveled “up and down” her back and, as time passed, her “upper back” got worse, eventually requiring the fusion of four vertebrae in her cervical spine.  Employee contends her cervical condition is the result of her January 1999 work injury, she should be awarded disability benefits and transportation costs and Employer should reimburse Medicare for the costs of her medical treatment.

Employer contends contemporaneous medical records do not document a cervical injury and medical records over the following six years do not document neck pain complaints.    It contends Employee began seeking treatment for neck pain in 2005 and originally reported her neck pain started with no injury.  Employer contends Employee failed to mention she had injured her neck at a 2005 hearing for medical benefits and contends Employee completed multiple claims listing the injured body part as back and leg.  It contends this evidence creates a reasonable inference Employee did not injure her cervical spine in 1999, and rebuts Employee’s presumption of compensability, if she enjoys one in light of its §110 defense.  Therefore, Employer contends Employee’s claim should be denied.

3) Is Employee entitled to medical and related transportation costs?

4) Is Employee entitled to TTD benefits?

FINDINGS OF FACT
The following facts and factual conclusions are established by a preponderance of the evidence:

1) On March 29, 1993, Employee saw Roy Pierson, M.D., regarding a low back injury she sustained when she slipped and fell on ice taking out trash while working for the University of Alaska Fairbanks.  (Pierson report, March 29, 1993).

2) On April 9, 1993, a magnetic resonance imaging (MRI) study of Employee’s lumbar spine showed a moderate L5-S1 herniation.  (MRI, April 9, 1993).

3) On May 7, 1993, Dr. Pierson performed a laminectomy and discectomy at L5-S1.  (Pierson report, May 7, 1993).

4) On December 10, 1995, Employee reported she reinjured her lower back while doing laundry while working for the Captain Bartlett Inn.  (Fairbanks Physical Therapy chart note, December 19, 1995).

5) On December 22, 1995, John Joosse, M.D., examined Employee for an employer’s medical evaluation (EME).  Employee had three complaints:  1) upper back and shoulder pain; 2) hand and wrist numbness; and 3) low back pain.  Employee reported she developed chronic upper back pain several months after she caught a 15 gallon bleach container from falling off a shelf.   With respect to her upper back, Employee complained of intolerable pain to light skin touch throughout her neck, shoulder sides and back.  Dr. Joosse’s impression regarding Employee’s upper back complaints was myofascial syndrome or chronic pain syndrome.  (Joosse report, December 22, 1995).

6) On April 18, 1996, Employee saw her general practitioner, Carl Thomas, III, M.D., for chronic lower back pain.  Employee also had severe inflammation of her mid and upper back.  She reported she hurt “all up and down her back.”  The report also references Employee’s complaints as “back problems – workers’ comp.”  Dr. Thomas referred Employee for physical therapy.  (Thomas report, April 18, 1996).

7) On April 25, 1996, Employee reported her “whole back hurts” while attending physical therapy.  Employee refused to participate in cervical range of motion examination because it was extremely painful.  She stated she had a lawyer and was fighting a workers’ compensation case.  (Fairbanks Physical Therapy chart note, April 25, 1996).

8) On May 2, 1996, Employee returned to Dr. Thomas complaining of continuing troubles with her upper back and exacerbation of her lower back pain.  Employee reported she slipped and fell on ice behind her place of employment while taking out trash on Easter.  Employee stated she did not seek treatment for that injury, but filed a report and felt like she was getting some retribution from her employer because she filed the report.  (Thomas report, May 2, 1996).

9) On August 1, 1996, Employee saw Dr. Thomas complaining of chronic low back and neck pain.  Employee reported she was working with her lawyer and workers’ compensation to see if “some retraining can be performed.”  The report also states: “She has seen many orthopedic’s [sic] in town and gone to the pain clinic to no avail.  She is due to meet with Workers’ Comp later this month to work on these issues.”  (Thomas report, August 1, 1996).

10) On September 23, 1996, Employee returned to Dr. Thomas for her then current “court cases.”  Employee reported:  

They apparently have made an offer of settlement that she thinks is much too low.  She states her lawyer seems to be confused over her complaint as well, namely, she has not only had upper back pain, but she also has had low back pain that has been aggravated by her employment. I told her this has been well-documented in my visits with her, as well as noted in my letter that I wrote to her lawyer.  She is to get a hold of her lawyer and discuss her concerns and objectives.

(Thomas report, September 23, 1996).

11) On January 20, 1999, Employee saw orthopedic surgeon Nathan Simpson, M.D., following a referral from Dr. Thomas.  Dr. Simpson assessed a recurrent disc herniation at L5-S1.  (Thomas letter, January 20, 1999).

12) On February 15, 1999, Dr. Simpson performed a “redo” laminectomy and discectomy at L5-S1.  (Simpson report, February 15, 1999). 

13) On April 1, 1999, Employee reported she injured her right, lower back on January 26, 1999 while hanging up Carhart clothing for Employer.  (Report of Occupation Injury, April 1, 1999).

14) On June 17, 1999, Employee filed a claim.  She described her injury: “I was reaching [sic] Carhart coveralls on hangers and I felt a twing [sic] on my back.  I didn’t think anything of it, cause [sic] I have chronic back pain.”  (Claim, June 17, 1999).

15) On October 15, 1999, Holm Neumann, M.D., Ph.D., saw Employee for an EME.  Although the date of injury is recorded as January 26, 1999, Employee contended the injury actually occurred on January 13, 1999.  Employee reported her current symptoms as low back pain and neck pain that prevented her from lying on her right side.  Dr. Neumann’s impression was a recurrent disc herniation at L5-S1 associated with the January 1999 work injury.  (Neumann report, October 15, 1999).

16) On April 29, 2000, Employee saw Stephen Marble, M.D., for an EME for the January 1999 work injury.  When describing the history of the present injury to Dr. Marble, Employee stated she was reaching above shoulder height to give a Carhart overall to a customer when she experienced pain in the lower back.  Employee completed a pain diagram, which Dr. Marble described as follow: 

[P]ins and needles throughout the upper back, stabbing throughout the right upper extremity, aching about the right shoulder, stabbing in the right lower back, aching and stabbing in the right buttocks, with stabbing in the left buttocks, throughout the left leg, with stabbing, pins and needles down the right leg, numbness in the lateral aspect of the right foot.  

When Dr. Marble inquired about the trunk and upper extremity symptoms, Employee attributed them to tension and the lack of sleep.  She stated those symptoms began about four months ago.  When Dr. Marble asked if Employee has ever had those symptoms in the past, Employee responded “real light.”  On physical examination, Employee indicated diffuse exquisite tenderness throughout her entire trunk posteriorly, including the neck, upper back, shoulders as well as the lower back and gluteal region.  She withdrew from light touch and winced in pain.  Dr. Marble found fourteen of eighteen tender points consistent with fibromyalgia.  Dr. Marble disagreed with Dr. Neumann, and stated Employee’s L5-S1 discopathy was not related to the January 1999 reaching incident.  (Marble report April 29, 2000).

17) On August 17, 2000, Pete Stepovich filed a claim on behalf of Employee seeking review of a Reemployment Benefits Administrator’s determination.  The claim also requested a hearing on Employee’s previously filed claims.  The claim describes the injured body part as lower back and leg, and the injury as an L5-S1 herniation.  (Claim, August 17, 2000).

18) On February 28, 2001, the parties entered into a compromise and release (C&R) agreement for issues in the instant case.  Employee waived her entitlement to all benefits, with exception of medical benefits and transportation costs, in return for a lump sum payment of $15,000.  The board approved the C&R on May 2, 2001.  (C&R, May 2, 2001).

19) On September 4, 2001, Dr. Marble examined Employee for an EME.  Employee’s pain diagram depicted pain throughout the right lower extremity.  On physical examination, Employee reported exquisite tenderness with the lightest touch possible throughout the entire lumbar region.  Dr. Marble stated his impressions were generally the same as those set forth in his April 29, 1999 report.  (Marble report, September 4, 2001).

20) On June 10, 2002, John Chiu, M.D. examined Employee for a second independent medical evaluation (SIME).  Employee stated she was reaching to hang up heavy clothing at work on February 13, 1999 when this precipitated increasing low back pain.  Employee reported some improvement after Dr. Simpson’s re-do of the L5-S1 laminotomy and discectomy, but continued to have some low back and right leg pain.  She also reported developing increasing low back and right leg pain after the January 13, 1999 work injury.  Dr. Chiu diagnosed “post-traumatic herniated lumbar disc with lumbar radiculopathy, status post lumbar laminectomy and discectomy, L5-S1, times two.”  He also diagnosed post traumatic lower thoracic strain/disc disease.  He stated there was “no question” Employee suffered the described injuries as a result of the industrial accident, and opined her lumbar disc symptoms had become chronic and would require periodic follow-up and treatment.  Dr. Chiu repeatedly recommended a provocative lumbar discogram and microdecompression endoscopic lumbar discectomy with Holium laser thermodiscoplasty as further treatment, and cited thirteen advantages to this procedure, including: “[o]f course, my surgical triad approach and critical fan-sweep maneuver further facilitate the disc decompression and improve the surgical result.”  (Chiu report, June 10, 2002).

21) On January 6, 2003, Employee filed a petition to set aside the C&R.  Employee explained she had spinal surgery prior to the work injury in 1999 and, because of the work injury, she re-herniated her lower back at L5-S1, which required a second surgery.  She contended she was not properly cared for by her doctors and was entitled to additional permanent partial impairment benefits because her condition had not improved.  (Employee’s petition, January 6, 2003).

22) On January 29, 2003, Employee underwent further surgery at L5-S1.  John Chiu, M.D. performed a micro decompression endoscopic lumbar discectomy with Holium laser discoplasty at L5-S1.  The report does not state whether Dr. Chiu utilized his “critical fan sweep maneuver.”  (Clifford report, January 29, 2003).

23) On February 26, 2003, Pete Stepovich filed a claim on Employee’s behalf seeking further medical benefits for her back condition.  The claim described back and leg as the body part injured and described the injury as an L5-S1 herniation.  (Claim, February 26, 2003).

24) On April 3, 2003, Dr. Thomas wrote Dr. Chui concerned Employee was having more low back and superficial skin pain than she did before Dr. Chiu performed his surgery.  Employee’s physical therapist was also concerned.  (Thomas letter, April 3, 2003).

25) On June 2, 2003, Employee filed an affidavit of readiness for hearing (ARH) on her January 6, 2003 petition to set aside the C&R.  (ARH, June 2, 2003).

26) At an August 29, 2003 hearing, Employee testified she wanted to set aside the C&R so she could obtain a new rating following additional back surgery in January of 2003.  The board denied Employee’s petition to set aside the C&R.  (Medina v. Sears Roebuck & Co., AWCB Decision No. 03-0235 (September 29, 2003) (Medina I).

27) On January 21, 2005, Dr. Marble examined Employee for an EME.  Employee reported “0 percent” improvement following Dr. Chiu’s surgery.  Employee’s pain diagram depicted pain in the right lower back and gluteal area with some spread over the left sacrum.  Palpation on physical exam was remarkable for global and exquisite tenderness diffuse throughout the lumbosacral region, extending all the way from L1 down through the mid sacrum and sciatic notches.   Dr. Marble reaffirmed his April 29, 2000 and September 4, 2001 reports, noting prior diagnoses of chronic pain syndrome in 1993 by EME evaluators from another work injury.  Dr. Marble stated he was “perplexed” by Employee’s interim medical history, suggested Employee might benefit from a behavioral pain clinic and stated he could offer no further recommendations.  (Marble report, January 21, 2005).

28) On February 9, 2005, the parties entered into a second C&R for the instant case settling Employee’s claim for outstanding medical costs.  Employee again waived her entitlement to all benefits, with the exception of medical benefits and transportation costs in return for a lump sum payment of $7,600.  The board approved the C&R on February 11, 2005.  (C&R, May 2, 2001).

29) On April 14, 2005, Employee filed a claim seeking further medical benefits for her 1999 back injury.  The claim described the injured body part as “back.”  (Claim, April 14, 2005).

30) On June 8, 2005, Employee filed an ARH on her April 14, 2005 claim.  (Employee’s ARH, June 8, 2005).

31) On August 11, 2005, Pete Stepovich withdrew as Employee’s representative.  (Notice of Withdrawal, August 9, 2005).

32) On September 22, 2005, Employee represented herself at a hearing on her April 14, 2005 claim.  Employee was awarded medical benefits through the date of the decision, and ongoing conservative care for her spinal condition.  (Medina v. Sears Roebuck & Co., AWCB Decision No. 05-0272 (October 26, 2005) (Medina II).

33) On October 12, 2005, Employee saw Dr. Thomas, complaining her neck was getting worse.  An x-ray of Employee’s cervical spine was taken and Dr. Thomas ordered an MRI.  (Thomas report, October 12, 2005).

34) On October 12, 2005, an x-ray showed mild disc height loss at C4-5, C5-6 and C6-7 with vertebral body osteophytes at those levels.  Narrowing of the neural foramina was also shown at C5-6 and C6-7.  (X-ray report, October 12, 2005).

35) On October 14, 2005, a MRI showed moderate canal stenosis at C5-6 relating to osteophyte complex which extended into the right neural foramen, and disc protrusions at C4-5 and C6-7 with mild canal stenosis.  (MRI report, October 14, 2005).

36) On November 11, 2005, Employee saw Upshur Spencer, M.D., on a referral from Dr. Thomas.  Employee complained of neck pain and right upper extremity pain for the last six weeks.  She stated she had intermittent neck pain over the years, but in the past month and a half, her symptoms had worsened.  Dr. Spencer diagnosed 1) C4-5, C5-6 and C6-7 degenerative disc disease; 2) left-sided C4-5 and C6-7 disc protrusions; and 3) a bi-lobed C5-6 disc protrusion.  Dr. Spencer was concerned Employee complained of right-sided upper extremity pain when her imaging demonstrated more pathology on the left side.   He was also concerned Employee had multiple lumbar procedures that had not helped her much.  Because Employee’s complaints were not dermatomal, he could not recommend surgery.  (Spencer report, November 11, 2005).

37) On February 2, 2006, Employee saw Edward Voke, M.D., on a referral from Dr. Thomas.  Employee reported having ongoing problems with her cervical spine since April 2005, with no associated injury.  The pain became intolerable in November 2005.  After reviewing the imaging studies, Dr. Voke concluded a three level anterior fusion was a big surgical commitment and conservative treatment was more appropriate.  He wanted to determine whether Employee was myelopathic and recommended an electromyogram (EMG).  (Voke report, February 2, 2005).

38) On March 20, 2006, Employee underwent an EMG study with James Froelsch, M.D., reporting neck pain “for some time now.”  Diagnostic impression was chronic neck pain without clinical evidence of radiculopathy.  There no findings on examination to suggest cervical myelopathy.  There were also no findings to suggest an entrapment neuropathy.  (Froelsch report, March 20, 2006).

39) On October 20, 2006, Employee filed a claim seeking prospective medical benefits for an L5-S1 fusion to be performed by Mark Spoonamore, M.D.  (Claim, October 20, 2006).

40) On February 23, 2007, Dr. Marble examined Employee for an EME.  Employee’s chief complaints were low back and neck pain, which she reported as being equal to the pain she experienced in her lower back.  Dr. Marble affirmed his earlier reports.  Given Employee’s past response to surgical intervention, Dr. Marble considered Employee a poor surgical candidate for Dr. Spoonamore’s proposed L5-S1 fusion.  (Marble report, February 23, 2007).

41) On March 20, 2007, Employee filed a second claim seeking prospective benefits for the same spinal fusion surgery with Dr. Spoonamore.  (Claim, March 20, 2007).

42) On April 6, 2007, Employee filed an ARH, however the ARH did not identify which claim or petition Employee sought a hearing on.  (Employee’s ARH, March 20, 2007).

43) The record does not indicate Employee’s April 6, 2007 ARH was returned to her.  (Record).

44) On August 7, 2007, Dr. Spoonamore performed an L5-S1 fusion.  (Spoonamore report, August 7, 2007).  

45) On February 22, 2008, Dr. Thomas referred Employee to Timothy Cohen, M.D. for an evaluation of her neck pain.  (Thomas referral, February 22, 2008).

46) On May 27, 2008, Employee saw Dr. Cohen and reported developing neck pain two years prior.  Dr. Cohen determined Employee had myelopathy and recommended an anterior cervical discectomy and arthrodesis with bone grafts at C4-5, C5-6 and C6-7.  (Cohen report, May 27, 2008).

47) On June 25, 2008, Dr. Cohen performed anterior cervical discectomies and arthrodesis at C4-5, C5-6 and C6-7.  (Cohen report, June 25, 2008).

48) On August 4, 2008, Employee filed a petition to set aside the original 2001 C&R because she “was not checked properly for upper back.”  Employee contended she told various doctors her upper back hurt, but “not one of them checked it.”  (Petition, August 4, 2008).

49) On September 8, 2008, Employee filed the instant claim seeking disability and medical and transportation benefits for her cervical spine condition.  (Claim, September 8, 2008).

50) On September 24, 2008, Employer answered and controverted Employee’s September 8, 2008 claim and asserted statutory defenses under AS 23.30.100(a) and AS 23.30.105(a).  Employer also contended Employee had waived disability benefits in the 2001 C&R.  (Answer, September 24, 2008; Notice of Controversion, September 24, 2008).

51) On October 3, 2008, Employee contacted Dr. Cohen’s office and continued to complain of neck pain and weakness in her extremities three months after her cervical surgery.  Employee also stated she had talked with Dr. Cohen about a workers’ compensation injury she had years ago and contended Dr. Cohen felt her neck condition was related.  Employee requested Dr. Cohen dictate a letter.  (Staff chart note, October 3, 2008).
52) On February 4, 2009, the parties participated in a prehearing conference.  Under the “discussion” section, the prehearing summary states: “No follow-up PHC will be scheduled until EE gets additional medical evidence and/or legal counsel.”  (Prehearing Conference Summary, February 4, 2009).

53) On February 16, 2009, Dr. Cohen responded to inquires from Attorney John Franich on Employee’s behalf.  The document contains typewritten questions and Dr. Cohen’s handwritten responses.  The document asked whether Employee’s January 13, 1999 injury is a substantial factor in Employee’s need for medical treatment.  The handwritten response states: “More probably than not.”  The next question asked whether Employee’s January 13, 1999 injury aggravated, accelerated or combined with a preexisting condition to produce the need for medical treatment.  The handwritten answer states “yes.”  The next question asked: “If so, did the aggravation, acceleration or combining with the preexisting condition produce either a temporary or permanent change in the preexisting condition?”  The handwritten answer states “yes.”  The document asked Dr. Cohen to identify what medical treatment is reasonable and necessary.  The handwritten response states “posterior spinal decompression and fusion.”  (Cohen responses, February 16, 2009).
54) On January 21, 2010, Dr. Cohen recommended Employee undergo C4-5, C5-6 and C6-7 posterior laminectomies.  (Cohen report, January 21, 2010).
55) On April 5, 2010, Dr. Cohen performed the laminectomies and spinal fusions at C4-7.  (Cohen report, April 5, 2010).

56) On August 4, 2010, Employee requested a prehearing conference.  (Request for Conference, August 4, 2010).

57) On September 20, 2010, a prehearing conference was scheduled on Employee’s August 4, 2010 request for conference, but did not occur.  The workers’ compensation electronic system does not state why the conference did not occur.  (Record).

58) At a January 3, 2011 prehearing conference, the parties discussed reimbursement for prescriptions drugs.  The summary states Employer’s attorney contended “there is no active WCC on this matter.”  The summary also states: “Prescriptions and medical visits for the cervical condition are being paid for by Medicare.  Because the cervical condition was after the low back condition, the cervical condition has not been deemed a workers’ compensation injury.”  Employer’s attorney represented she was going to talk to her client about possible settlement.  (Prehearing Conference Summary, January 3, 2011).

59) At an October 31, 2011 prehearing conference, Employee stated she filed an ARH on her September 24, 2008 claim.  The designee advised Employee the workers’ compensation electronic database did not show evidence she had filed an ARH.  The designee also advised Employee to seek the assistance of a workers’ compensation technician.  (Prehearing Conference Summary, October 31, 2011).

60) On November 22, 2011, Employee filed an ARH; however, the ARH did not specify for which claim or petition Employee sought a hearing.  The ARH was unsigned and did not show proof of service.  (Employee ARH. November 22, 2011).

61) On January 27, 2012, the board returned Employee’s November 22, 2011 ARH because it was unsigned and did not show proof of service.  (Board letter, January 27, 2012).

62) On February 16, 2012, Employee filed an ARH on her September 8, 2008 claim.  (Employee ARH, February 16, 2012).

63) Employee considers “upper back” to mean any area from the head down, including the neck.  (Medina).

64) Employee stated she filed the “missing” ARH in the Governor’s Fairbanks office.  (Id.)

65) Employee was highly critical of her former workers’ compensation representative.  She contends no claims were initially made for her neck condition because her representative refused to include an “upper back” condition since he felt it would provoke further controversions from Employer.  Employee contended her representative could not remember “stuff,” mistakenly sent her medical records from other clients, smelled of liquor, and threatened to drop her as a client.  She feels she was not “well represented.”  (Id.).

66) Employee subsequently tried to retain other attorneys, including Mr. Weiner and Mr. Franich.  (Id.).

67) Employee first denied having neck pain before the 1999 injury, and later acknowledged she sought treatment for neck pain from Dr. Thomas on August 1, 1996.  Employee stated her neck pain then “got better,” and she did not have neck pain “right away” following the Sears injury.  (Id.).

68) Employee knew her neck pain was related to the 1999 Sears injury by 2000 when her neck pain returned and got worse.  (Id.).

69) Employee provided a number of explanations for the lack of medical documentation of neck pain following the injury at Sears.  She testified Dr. Thomas “could not document her complaints of neck pain.”  Employee clarified her testimony and explained Dr. Thomas never stated he could not document her neck pain, but rather he just referred her complaints of neck pain to other doctors.  Employee stated one of her doctors told her the lower back was worse and they would get to her upper back later.  She also stated her initial claims were for her lower back because Employer controverted her lower back.  (Id.). 

70) Employee testified she did not include “upper back” in her 2006 claim because “they said I couldn’t.”  Employee provided clarification and stated “they” meant anyone she talked to, such as doctors and lawyers, who told her she had no upper spine case so “there was not anything they could do about that.”  (Id.).

71) Employee criticized many of her treating doctors.  She stated Dr. Pierson “swore” she did not have a protruding disc and accused her of being addicted to surgery.  She contended Dr. Pierson then performed the surgery and showed her husband a piece of bone “that was lodged in there.”  However, “he left a piece of disc in there,” and that was why she had “only” a 2 percent PPI.  Employee stated: “Doctors just won’t admit when they make mistakes.”  She also contended some of her doctor’s have treated her badly and she’s undergone much depression.  Employee stated she almost died after surgery with Dr. Spoonamore, and she could have sued him.  (Id.).

PRINCIPLES OF LAW

At the time of Employee’s January 1999 work injury, AS 23.30.010 provided: 

AS 23.30.010. Coverage.  Compensation is payable under this chapter in respect of disability or death of an employee.

Decisional law interpreted former AS 23.30.010 to require payment of benefits when employment was “a substantial factor” in disability or need for medical treatment.  Ketchikan Gateway Borough v. Saling, 604 P.2d 590 (Alaska 1979).  Employment is “a substantial factor” in bringing about the disability or need for medical care where “but for” the work injury, a claimant would not have suffered disability at the time he did, in the way he did, or to the degree he did, and reasonable people would regard it as the cause and attach responsibility to it.  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers and Babler, 747 P.2d 528 (Alaska 1987).  A preexisting disease or infirmity does not disqualify a claim if employment aggravated, accelerated, or combined with disease or infirmity to produce death or disability.  Thornton v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 411 P.2d 209 (Alaska 1966).  Aggravation of a preexisting condition may be found absent any specific traumatic event.  Providence Washington Insurance v. Banner, 680 P.2d 96 (Alaska 1984).

AS 23.30.095.  Medical treatments, services, and examinations.  (a) The Employer shall furnish medical, surgical, and other attendance or treatment, nurse and hospital service, medicine, crutches, and apparatus for the period which the nature of the injury or the process of recovery requires, not exceeding two years from and after the date of injury to the Employee. . . .  It shall be additionally provided that, if continued treatment or care or both beyond the two-year period is indicated, the injured Employee has the right of review by the board.  
AS 23.30.100.  Notice of injury or death. (a) Notice of an injury or death in respect to which compensation is payable under this chapter shall be given within 30 days after the date of such injury or death to the board and to the employer.
(b) The notice must be in writing, contain the name and address of the employee, a statement of the time, place, nature, and cause of the injury or death, and authority to release records of medical treatment for the injury or death, and be signed by the employee or by a person on behalf of the employee . . . .

. . . 

(d) Failure to give notice does not bar a claim under this chapter

(1) if the employer, an agent of the employer in charge of the business in the place where the injury occurred, or the carrier had knowledge of the injury or death and the board determines that the employer or carrier has not been prejudiced by failure to give notice;

(2) if the board excuses the failure on the ground that for some satisfactory reason notice could not be given;

(3) unless objection to the failure is raised before the board at the first hearing of a claim for compensation in respect to the injury or death.

Under AS 23.30.100, Employee must provide written notice of an injury to the board and to Employer within thirty days of injury.  Unless a statutory exception applies, failure to give notice within thirty days bars a claim under the Act.  Thurman v. Vend Alaska, AWCB Decision No. 99-0056 (March 10, 1999).  The thirty day period begins to run when the worker could reasonably discover an injury’s compensability.  Alaska State Housing Auth. v. Sullivan, 518 P.2d 759, 761 (Alaska 1974).  However, because the exact date when Employee could reasonably discover compensability is often difficult to determine, the thirty day period can begin no earlier than when a compensable event first occurs.  Cogger v. Anchor House, 936 P.2d 157, 160 (Alaska 1997).  

In determining whether failure to provide timely written notice should be excused under AS 23.30.100(d)(1), the Alaska Supreme Court has said: 

Timely written notice of worker’s injury is required both because it lets employer provide immediate medical diagnosis and treatment to minimize seriousness of injury, and because it facilitates earliest possible investigation of facts surrounding injury and, thus, failure to provide timely notice that impedes either of these objectives prejudices employer.  Tinker v. Veco, Inc., 913 P.2d 488, 492 (Alaska 1996).  

To excuse failure to give timely notice of the injury, it must be established Employer had knowledge of the injury and was not prejudiced by the lack of knowledge.  Id.  If Employee verbally communicates legally sufficient information of the time, place, nature and cause of the injury to Employer instead of in writing, “it would require an exceptional set of circumstances for the difference in form to be prejudicial to an employer.”  Id.  The statute only requires an Employer have knowledge of the injury, not the work relatedness of the injury.  Kolkman v. Greens Creek Mining Co., 936 P.2d 150, 155-56 (Alaska 1997).  In determining whether Employer has been prejudiced by a failure to give timely notice of an injury, the delay between the deadline for notice of injury and the date when claimant gave notice should be considered, not the delay between the date of injury and the date when claimant gave notice.  Id.; applied in Dafermo v. Municipality of Anchorage, 941 P.2d 114 (Alaska 1997).  

In determining whether failure to provide timely written notice should be excused based on the general excuse in AS 23.30.100(d)(2), the Alaska Supreme Court has read a “reasonableness” standard, analogous to the “discovery rule” for statutes of limitations, into the statute.  Sullivan.  Under this standard, the thirty day period begins when “by reasonable care and diligence it is discoverable and apparent that a compensable injury has been sustained.”  Id. at 761 (quoting 3 Arthur Larson, Workmen’s Compensation §78.41, at 60 (1971)).

AS 23.30.110.  Procedure on claims. (a) Subject to the provisions of AS 23.30.105, a claim for compensation may be filed with the board in accordance with its regulations at any time after the first seven days of disability following an injury, or at any time after death, and the board may hear and determine all questions in respect to the claim.

. . . 

(c) Before a hearing is scheduled, the party seeking a hearing shall file a request for a hearing together with an affidavit stating that the party has completed necessary discovery, obtained necessary evidence, and is prepared for the hearing. . . .  If the employer controverts a claim on a board-prescribed controversion notice and the employee does not request a hearing within two years following the filing of the controversion notice, the claim is denied.

. . . 

(h) The filing of a hearing request under (c) of this section suspends the running of the two-year time period specified in (c) of this section.  However, if the employee subsequently requests a continuance of the hearing and the request is approved by the board, the granting of the continuance renders the request for hearing inoperative, and the two-year time period specified in (c) of this section continues to run again from the date of the board's notice to the employee of the board's granting of the continuance and of its effect.  If the employee fails to again request a hearing before the conclusion of the two-year time period in (c) of this section, the claim is denied.

Statutes with language similar to AS 23.30.110(c) are referred to by the late Professor Arthur Larson as “no progress” or “failure to prosecute” rules. “[A] claim may be dismissed for failure to prosecute it or set it down for hearing in a specified or reasonable time.”  7 Arthur Larson & Lex K. Larson, Workers’ Compensation Law, Sec. 126.13 [4], at 126-81 (2002).  The statute’s object is to bring a claim to the board for a decision quickly so the goals of speed and efficiency in board proceedings are met.  Providence Health System v. Hessel, AWCAC Decision No. 131 (March 24, 2010).  

AS 23.30.110(c) requires an employee to prosecute a claim in a timely manner once a claim is filed, and controverted by the employer.  Jonathan v. Doyon Drilling, Inc., 890 P.2d 1121, 1124 (Alaska 1995).  Only after a claim is filed, can the employer file a controversion to start the time limit of AS 23.30.110(c).  Wilson v. Flying Tiger Line, Inc. AWCB Decision No. 94-0143 (June 17, 1994).  An employee may file subsequent claims for additional benefits, and the employer must file a controversion to start the time limit of AS 23.30.110(c) against the subsequent claims.  Wicken v. Polar Mining, AWCB Decision No. 05-0308 (November 22, 2005).

The Alaska Supreme Court has compared AS 23.30.110(c) to a statute of limitations.  Suh v. Pingo Corp., 736 P.2d 342, 346 (Alaska, 1987).  Dismissal under AS 23.30.110(c) is automatic and non-discretionary.  Pool v. City of Wrangell, AWCB Decision No. 99-0097 (April 29, 1999); Westfall v. Alaska International Const., AWCB Decision No. 93-0241 (September 30, 1993).  In Tipton v. ARCO Alaska, Inc., 922 P.2d 910, 912, 913 (Alaska 1996), the Alaska Supreme Court noted the language of AS 23.30.110(c) is clear, requiring an employee to request a hearing within two years of the controversion date or face claim dismissal.  However, the court also noted the statute of limitations defense is “generally disfavored,” and neither “the law [n]or the facts should be strained in aid of it.”  Id. at 912-913.

Certain events relieve an employee from strict compliance with the requirements of §110(c).  The Alaska Supreme Court held the board owes a duty to every claimant to fully advise him of “all the real facts” that bear upon his right to compensation, and to instruct him on how to pursue that right under law.  Richard v. Fireman’s Fund Insurance Co., 384 P.2d 445, 449 (Alaska, 1963).  In Bohlman v. Alaska Const. & Engineering, 205 P.3d 316 (Alaska, 2009), the Court, applying Richards, held the board has a specific duty to inform a pro se claimant how to preserve his claim under §110(c).  Consequently, Richards is applied to excuse noncompliance with §110(c) when the board failed to adequately inform a claimant of the two year time limitation.  Dennis v. Champion Builders, AWCB Decision No. 08-0151 (August 22, 2008).

Certain “legal” grounds might also excuse noncompliance with §110(c), such as lack of mental capacity or incompetence, and equitable estoppel against a governmental agency by a pro se claimant.  Tonoian v. Pinkerton Security, AWCAC Decision No. 029 (January 30, 2007).  “Rare situations” may also require tolling of the limitation statute, for example when a claimant is unable to comply with §110(c) because the parties are awaiting receipt of necessary evidence such as an SIME report.  Aune v. Eastwood, Inc., AWCB Decision No. 01-0259 (December 19, 2009).  

Finally, technical noncompliance with §110(c) may be excused in cases where a claimant has substantially complied with the statute.  Kim v. Alyeska Seafoods, Inc., 197 P.3d 193 (Alaska, 2008), accord Omar v. Unisea, Inc., AWCAC Decision No. 053 (August 27, 2007) (remanded to the board to determine whether the circumstances as a whole constituted compliance sufficient to excuse failure to comply with the statute).  The Alaska Supreme Court stated because §110(c) is a procedural statute, its application is directory rather than mandatory, and substantial compliance is acceptable absent significant prejudice to the other party.  Kim at 196.  However, substantial compliance does not mean noncompliance, id. at 198, or late compliance, Hessel at 6.  And, although substantial compliance does not require the filing of a formal affidavit, it nevertheless still requires a claimant to file, within two years of a controversion, either a request for hearing, id., or a request for additional time to prepare for a hearing.  Denny’s of Alaska v. Colrud, AWCAC Decision No. 148 (March 10, 2011). 

AS 23.30.120. Presumptions. 

(a) In a proceeding for the enforcement of a claim for compensation under this chapter it is presumed, in the absence of substantial evidence to the contrary, that

(1) the claim comes within the provisions of this chapter;

. . . 

(b) If delay in giving notice is excused by the board under AS 23.30.100(d)(2), the burden of proof of the validity of the claim shifts to the employee notwithstanding the provisions of (a) of this section. . . . 

“The text of AS 23.30.120(a) (1) indicates that the presumption of compensability is applicable to any claim for compensation under the workers’ compensation statute.”  Meek v. Unocal Corp., 914 P.2d 1276, 1279 (Alaska 1996) (emphasis in original).  Therefore, an injured worker is afforded a presumption all the benefits she seeks are compensable (id.).  Medical benefits including continuing care are covered by the AS 23.30.120(a) presumption of compensability.  Municipality of Anchorage v. Carter, 818 P.2d 661, 664-65 (Alaska 1991).  The Alaska Supreme Court in Sokolowski v. Best Western Golden Lion, 813 P.2d 286, 292 (Alaska 1991) held a claimant “is entitled to the presumption of compensability as to each evidentiary question.” 

The presumption’s application involves a three-step analysis.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1379, 1381 (Alaska 1991).  First, Employee must establish a “preliminary link” between the “claim” and her employment.  In less complex cases, lay evidence may be sufficiently probative to make the link.  VECO, Inc. v. Wolfer, 693 P.2d 865, 871 (Alaska 1985).  Whether or not medical evidence is required depends on the probative value of available lay evidence and the complexity of the medical facts involved.  Id.  Employee need only adduce “some,” “minimal” relevant evidence (Cheeks v. Wismer & Becker/G.S. Atkinson, J.V., 742 P.2d 239, 244 (Alaska 1987)) establishing a “preliminary link” between the “claim” and the employment.  Burgess Construction Co. v. Smallwood, 623 P.2d 312, 316 (Alaska 1981).  The witnesses’ credibility is of no concern in this first step.  Excursion Inlet Packing Co. v. Ugale, 92 P.3d 413, 417 (Alaska 2004).

Second, once the preliminary link is established, the presumption is raised and attaches to the claim.  Employer has the burden to overcome the raised presumption by coming forward with substantial evidence rebutting the evidence Employee adduced to raise the presumption.  Miller v. ITT Arctic Services, 577 P.2d 1044, 1046 (Alaska 1978).  “Substantial evidence” is the amount of relevant evidence a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion.  Id. at 1046.  Employer can rebut the presumption by either producing affirmative evidence the injury is not work related or by eliminating all reasonable possibilities the injury is work related.  Smallwood.  Employer’s evidence is viewed in isolation, without regard to Employee’s evidence.  Miller at 1055.  Therefore, credibility questions and weight accorded Employer’s evidence is deferred until after it is decided if Employer produced a sufficient quantum of evidence to rebut the presumption.  Norcon, Inc. v. Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board, 880 P.2d 1051, 1054 (Alaska 1994); citing Big K Grocery v. Gibson, 836 P.2d 941 (Alaska 1992).

If an employer, in appropriate cases not involving “work-relatedness,” produces substantial evidence rebutting the presumption, the presumption drops out, and the employee must prove all elements of the “claim” by a preponderance of the evidence.  Louisiana Pacific Corp. v. Koons, 816 P.2d 1381; citing Miller v. ITT Services, 577 P 2d. 1044, 1046.  The party with the burden of proving asserted facts by a preponderance of the evidence must “induce a belief” in the fact finders’ minds the asserted facts are probably true.  Saxton v. Harris, 395 P.2d 71, 72 (Alaska 1964).  

AS 23.30.135.  Procedure before the board.  (a) In making an investigation or inquiry or conducting a hearing the board is not bound by common law or statutory rules of evidence or by technical or formal rules of procedure, except as provided by this chapter.  The board may make its investigation or inquiry or conduct its hearing in the manner by which it may best ascertain the rights of the parties. . . .  
The board may base its decision not only on direct testimony, medical findings, and other tangible evidence, but also on the board’s “experience, judgment, observations, unique or peculiar facts of the case, and inferences drawn from all of the above.”  Fairbanks North Star Borough v. Rogers & Babler, 747 P.2d 528, 533-34 (Alaska 1987).

8 AAC 45.065.  Prehearings.  (a) After a claim or petition has been filed, a party may file a written request for a prehearing, and the board or designee will schedule a prehearing. Even if a claim, petition, or request for prehearing has not been filed, the board or its designee will exercise discretion directing the parties or their representatives to appear for a prehearing. At the prehearing, the board or designee will exercise discretion in making determinations on . . . . 

8 AAC 45.084.  Medical travel expenses.  (a) This section applies to expenses to be paid by the employer to an employee who is receiving or has received medical treatment.

(b) Transportation expenses include 

(1) a mileage rate, for the use of a private automobile, equal to the rate the state reimburses its supervisory employees for travel on the given date if the usage is reasonably related to the medical examination or treatment; 

(2) the actual fare for public transportation if reasonably incident to the medical examination or treatment; and 

(3) ambulance service or other special means of transportation if substantiated by competent medical evidence or by agreement of the parties.

. . .  

(e) A reasonable amount for meals and lodging purchased when obtaining necessary medical treatment must be paid by the employer if substantiated by receipts submitted by the employee. Reimbursable expenses may not exceed the per diem amount paid by the state to its supervisory employees while traveling.

8 AAC 45.120.  Evidence. . . 

. . . 

(k) The board favors the production of medical evidence in the form of written reports, but will, in its discretion, give less weight to written reports that do not include 
(1) the patient’s complaints; 

(2) the history of the injury; 

(3) the source of all facts set out in the history and complaints; 

(4) the findings on examination; 

(5) the medical treatment indicated; 

(6) the relationship of the impairment or injury to the employment; 

(7) the medical provider’s opinion concerning the employee’s working ability and reasons for that opinion; 

(8) the likelihood of permanent impairment; and 

(9) the medical provider’s opinion as to whether the impairment, if permanent, is ready for rating, the extent of impairment, and detailed factors upon which the rating is based. . . .

ANALYSIS
1) Is Employee’s claim barred by AS 23.30.100(a)?

AS 23.30.100(a) requires written notice of an injury to the board and Employer within thirty days of injury or a compensable event.  Unless a statutory exception applies, failure to give notice within thirty days bars a claim under the Act.  Employee set the date of her injury as January 13, 1999.  On April 1, 1999, she reported she injured her “right, lower back,” and later explained she did not think anything of it at the time because she suffers from chronic back pain.  Employer contends the first medical documentation of Employee’s neck pain was in 2005, and it was unaware of an injury to her cervical spine until August 4, 2008, when she filed a petition to set aside a C&R.  

However, the medical documentation indicates Employee suffered neck pain from at least 1996, several years before the work injury in this case.  Employee reported neck pain to Drs. Neumann and Marble shortly after the 1999 injury but, at that time, she attributed her neck pain to tension and lack of sleep.  Between 1999 and 2005, medical diagnosis and treatment, as well as Employee’s reporting of symptoms, involved Employee’s lower back.  The considerable litigation that occurred during this period of time also involved Employee’s lower back condition.  Medical testing, diagnosis and treatment of Employee’s cervical spine did not begin until 2005, and Employee had her fist cervical surgery in 2008.  

Employee is highly critical of her former representative and maintains she injured her neck in the 1999 injury while working for Employer.  She adamantly contends she repeatedly urged her former representative to pursue benefits for a cervical injury, but he refused to do so.  However, the facts do not support Employee’s contentions in this regard.  Employee’s representative withdrew from representing Employee in 2005, and between 2005 and 2008, Employee was pursuing workers’ compensation benefits on her own behalf for the proposed L5-S1 fusion with Dr. Spoonamore.  Yet, during this period of time, Employee did not notify Employer of an injury to her cervical spine.  It was not until the fall of 2008, after having her first cervical surgery, that she did so by attempting to set aside the C&R.  Furthermore, while there is evidence Employee was concerned about her legal representative not understanding she wanted to pursue benefits for both her lower and “upper back,” that evidence predates the instant work injury, and involves a different work injury with a different employer during a previous claim.  That evidence is found in numerous 1996 medical reports by Dr. Thomas. 

Employee admitted in she realized her neck pain was connected to the work injury with Employer when her neck pain returned in 2000, and she started treating extensively for her neck condition in 2005.  Each time she sought treatment for her neck was a “compensable event” as described in Cogger.  So, whether it was sometime in 2000 or when Employee started treating for her neck in 2005, by any measure, Employee’s 2008 notice to Employer far exceeded the 30 day statutory notice requirement.  AS 23.30.100(a).   

Additionally, neither of the statutory exceptions to the reporting requirement can be met here.  Over the thirteen year course of protected litigation, Employer invested heavily in EME evaluations pursuing its defense.  Had Employer had notice that the 1999 injury might have aggravated, accelerated or contributed to a cervical condition, it could have investigated and attempted to mitigate the seriousness of the injury.  Employer was prejudiced by not being able to do so.  Tinker.  Neither is there any “satisfactory reason” notice could not be given.  Employee’s explanations for the delayed reporting place fault with everyone else.  She contends her former legal representative refused to include a claim for a cervical condition even though she wanted him to.  She contends her general practitioner, Dr. Thomas, would refer her cervical complaints to other specialists without documenting them.  She contends other doctors and lawyers told her she could not file a claim for her cervical condition.  As mentioned previously, Employee is an accomplished non-attorney litigator who had every opportunity, especially after her former legal representative withdrew, to notice Employer of an injury to her cervical spine.  There is no reasonable explanation why she did not.  Sullivan.  Therefore, Employee’s claim will be dismissed pursuant to AS 23.30.100(d).

2) Is Employee’s claim barred by AS 23.30.110(c)?

AS 23.30.110(c) provides an affidavit of readiness for hearing must be filed within two years of a post-claim controversion.  Employee filed her claim on September 8, 2008 and Employer answered and controverted Employee’s claim on September 24, 2008.  Nearly three and a half years later, on February 16, 2012, Employee filed an ARH on her September 8, 2008 claim.  Clearly, the filing of Employee’s ARH falls outside the statutory limit; however, do any of the recognized exceptions to the filing requirement apply to the facts of this case?  

On one hand, Employee has long litigated in the workers’ compensation system, both with the assistance of legal representation and without.  In 2003, Employee timely filed an ARH on her own behalf on her petition to set aside a C&R.  She also timely filed on her own behalf an ARH on one of her claims in 2005.  In 2007, she attempted to file an ARH on either her 2006 claim or her 2007 claim.  Employee was aware of the ARH filing requirements and failed to meet them in this instance.

On the other hand, a number of facts in the record are of concern.  The February 4, 2009 prehearing conference summary states “No follow-up PHC will be scheduled until EE gets additional medical evidence and/or legal counsel.”  It is unclear from the summary whether this pronouncement was in response to a request from Employer’s attorney, or whether it was solely the board designee’s.  In any event, scheduling a prehearing with the board requires neither a showing of medical evidence nor legal representation.  In fact, quite the opposite is true.   Regulation 8 AAC 45.065 specifically states prehearings will be scheduled upon request.  Whether or not to schedule a prehearing after a party has requested one is not a matter of discretion.

Additionally, after having been erroneously advised no further prehearing conferences would be scheduled in her case, Employee filed a request for conference on August 4, 2010.  Employee’s §110(c) limit had not yet run.  A prehearing was scheduled for September 20, 2010, but did not occur.  Again, Employee’s §110(c) limit had not run.  On January 3, 2011, the parties participated in a prehearing conference.  The summary states “because the cervical condition was after the low back condition, the cervical condition has not been deemed a workers’ compensation injury.”  (Emphasis added).  This statement is a curious pronouncement.  How was this pronouncement determined?  What does “deemed” mean?  Does it indicate the designee agreed with Employer’s assertion Employee had not filed a claim for her cervical condition, or, does this refer to a controversion by Employer?  And, deemed by whom-- Employer, an attorney, the adjuster, or the designee?  At this prehearing conference, Employer’s attorney also contended there was no “active WCC on this matter.”  There is no evidence to suggest the board designee corrected this erroneous assertion.  Employee had a claim, specifically on her cervical condition, pending since September 8, 2008.  And, even though by now Employee’s §110(c) time had expired; there had not yet been any decision denying and dismissing Employee’s claim such that would have yet rendered her claim “inactive.”  

The Alaska Supreme Court decided in Richards it was an error when a designee failed to correct an erroneous assertion by the employer’s attorney at a prehearing that the claimant’s §110(c) time had run when it had not.  In this case, the designee failed to correct the erroneous assertion by Employer’s attorney that a claim was not pending.  However, of most significance was the instruction the designee gave Employee at the February 4, 2009 prehearing stating no further conferences were going to be scheduled until she secured additional medical evidence or retained an attorney.  In addition to being a legally deficient pronouncement, it clearly had a chilling effect on Employee’s interaction with the division and on her ability to move her claim forward.  This is evident because no activity took place on Employee’s claim for exactly a year and a half, when Employee, notwithstanding the instruction on February 4, 2009, filed a request for conference anyways.  Employee was an accomplished litigator in her own right who showed no aversion to filing documents, including claims, petitions and ARH’s.  The erroneous imposition of arbitrary prerequisites requiring Employee to produce medical evidence or retain an attorney before a prehearing conference would be scheduled, that resulted in a year and half delay in a claim with a two year limitation, was not “harmless error”; it was a significant error.  Employee’s claim will not be dismissed under §110(c).  Richards.

3) Is Employee entitled to medical and related transportation costs?

As concluded above, Employee’s claim will be dismissed pursuant to AS 23.30.100.  However, had Employee’s late reporting been excused under that section, AS 23.30.120(b) would require her to prove her claim by a preponderance of the evidence.  Employee is claiming medical and transportation costs associated with the treatment of her cervical condition.  Employee contends her 1999 work injury was a substantial factor in her need for treatment.  Her evidence, absent her own testimony, connecting her need for treatment to the 1999 work in injury are Dr. Cohen’s February 16, 2009 responses to Attorney Franich’s inquiries.  

Dr. Cohen’s responses have very little probative value.  8 AAC 45.120.  They are summary responses to an inquiry from an attorney for the purpose of litigation prepared ten years after the injury, and are differentiated from the same sort of responses from a doctor following review of another doctor’s detailed, written report.  Dr. Cohen does not address the mechanism of the injury.  There is no evidence Dr. Cohen reviewed Employee’s voluminous medical records, or considered her cervical condition pre-existed the 1999 injury, or took into account previous work injuries or subsequent or natural causes.  Dr. Cohen did not appear or testify to expound upon his one word conclusions.  Dr. Cohen’s responses do not address, and cannot overcome, the most significant issue in this case:  Employee’s ten year delay connecting the 1999 injury to her cervical condition.  

During the course of the intervening ten years, on each of Employee’s previous claims, and throughout the history of protected litigation in this case, Employee’s injury had always been a lower back injury.  It was only following her 2008 surgery that Employee alleged her injury also involved her cervical spine.  Given Employee’s ten year delay in connecting the 1999 injury to her cervical condition, Dr. Cohen’s responses are not the sort of evidence that a reasonable person would rely on the find the 1999 injury was a substantial factor in Employee’s need for medical treatment and attach responsibility to it.  Rogers and Babler.  Employee has not proven her claim by a preponderance of the evidence so her claim will be denied.  

4) Is Employee entitled to TTD benefits?

The law provides for payment of temporary total disability benefits to compensate an employee for loss of earning capacity caused by a work injury.  For the reasons set forth above, since Employee cannot establish the 1999 injury was a substantial factor in the need for treatment of her cervical condition, Employee’s claim for disability payments will be denied.  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
1) Employee’s claim is barred by AS 23.30.100(a).

2) Employee’s claim is not barred by AS 23.30.110(c).

3) Employee is not entitled to medical and related transportation costs.

4) Employee is not entitled to TTD benefits.

ORDER

Employee’s September 8, 2008 claim is denied.

Dated in Fairbanks, Alaska on November 6, 2012. 
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APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision and becomes effective when filed in the board’s office, unless it is appealed.  Any party in interest may file an appeal with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the date this decision is filed.  All parties before the board are parties to an appeal.  If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied because the board takes no action on reconsideration, whichever is earlier.

A party may appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from; 2) a statement of the grounds for the appeal; and 3) proof of service of the notice and statement of grounds for appeal upon the Director of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Division and all parties.  Any party may cross-appeal by filing with the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  Whether appealing or cross-appealing, parties must meet all requirements of 8 AAC 57.070.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.

CERTIFICATION

I hereby certify the foregoing is a full, true and correct copy of the Final Decision and Order in the matter of MARTHA S. MEDINA employee / claimant v. SEARS ROEBUCK & CO., employer; LIBERTY MUTUAL INS. CO., insurer / defendants; Case No. 199905590; dated and filed in the office of the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board in Fairbanks, Alaska, and served upon the parties this 6 day of November, 2012.
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